RECEIVED

03-09-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Case No. 2014 AP 2965-CR

TIRON JUSTIN GRANT,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND THE DENIAL OF A POSTCONVICTION MOTION, ENTERED AND DECIDED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONOROBLE DANIEL KONKOL AND J.D.WATTS, PRESIDING, RESPECTIVELY

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MAAYAN SILVER Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No. 1052569

Silver Law Offices, LLC 2929 W. Highland Blvd. Milwaukee, WI 53208 Telephone (414) 336-1446

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

Issues Presented

- 1. Should Mr. Grant Receive a New Trial?
 - a. Due to Insufficiency of the Evidence/Erroneous Ruling of Chain of Custody of Evidence?
 - b. Due to a Due Process Violation?
 - c. Due to Ineffective Assistance of Counsel?
 - d. In the Interests of Justice?

The trial court denied Mr. Grant's motion for a new trial.

2. Did the Trial Court Erroneously Deny Mr. Grant's Postconviction Motion for Early Release Programming Eligibility?

The trial court denied the motion.

Position on Oral Argument and Publication

Neither are requested.

Statement of the Case and Facts

On June 3, 2013, Mr. Grant was charged with one count of possession with intent to deliver cocaine between 1-5 grams as a second or subsequent offense, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 961.41(1m)(cm)1r, 961.48(1)(b) and one count of resisting or obstructing an officer, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 946.41(1). (R2). The resisting/obstructing charge was dismissed at initial appearance on defense motion (lack of probable cause). (R48). The complaint was later amended to include more of a factual basis, and the obstructing charge was again dismissed. (R22). The complaint alleged that on May 30, 2013, at approximately 4:48PM, officers observed Mr. Grant flee on foot from a porch where there was a group of people, on 3825 N.36th Street. (R22:2). He did not answer questions, and he jumped a front porch fence, ignoring commands to stop. Id. Allegedly, one officer, Officer Ball, observed Mr. Grant remove a "large orange pill bottle from his right front pants pocket" and as he jumped over the fence he threw the pill bottle to the north. Id. The officers allegedly recovered the pill bottle with two sandwich baggies inside with corner cut baggies totaling around 2.79 grams of a substance that later tested positive for cocaine. Id.

Original counsel Danielle Shelton withdrew due to medical leave, and Attorney Lori Kuehn was appointed. (R48). After the parties briefed the fourth amendment issues, (R11, 12), the defense indicated that it would not be proceeding on the stop/arrest motions previously filed. (R53). On November 11, 2013, Mr. Grant exercised his right to a jury trial. For the state, the following witnesses testified: Milwaukee Police Officer Martez Ball, Milwaukee Police Officer Matthew Bughman, Milwaukee Police Detective James Henner, and Lab Analyst Birjees Kauser. (R56) After the State rested, the defense called Mr. Grant who, after a colloquy with the court, exercised his right to testify. (*Id.* at pp. 95-117). Mr. Grant finished testifying in the morning of November 12, 2013, and after closing arguments, the jury deliberated for two hours before coming back with a guilty verdict. (R59:4-8).

Mr. Grant was sentenced on November 27, 2013 to three years initial confinement and three years extended supervision, and no eligibility for ERP or CIP. (R60:14).

The defense advocated at sentencing for the imposition of the Earned Release (Wisconsin Substance Abuse Treatment Program) or Challenge Incarceration Program. *Id.* at 7-8. The trial court found that:

> You [Mr. Grant] are not eligible for the challenge incarceration program and not eligible for the substance abuse program. I think those are basically better suited to use as resources for someone who has a drug problem, not for somebody that's possessing, intending to deliver and really does not have a drug usage problem.

Id. at 13.

Trial counsel filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief on November 27, 2013. R35. On September 29, 2014, the defense timely filed a postconviction motion for a new trial and, in the alternative, for early release programming. R40. After being briefed by the parties, the postconviction motion was denied without a hearing by the trial court on December 12, 2014. R44 (Appd. at 114-116). The trial court indicated that (1) Detective Henner was qualified as an intent to deliver expert and had the trial counsel brought a motion to exclude his testimony under Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1973), it would have been denied. Id. at 2. (Appd. at 115). The trial court also found that "the evidence was sufficient to establish that the chain of custody for the drugs was not tampered with or amiss," mentioning nothing about the absence of the pill bottle allegedly recovered from the scene. Id. at 3 (Appd. at 116). Finally, the trial court determined that Mr. Grant may be statutorily eligible for early release programming, but found that the sentencing court properly exercised its discretion in determining that Mr. Grant had a drug delivery problem and not a drug addiction. Id. Therefore, the postconviction court declined to alter the sentencing court's denial of early release. Id.

Notice of Appeal was timely filed on December 22, 2014. R46

Argument

I. Mr. Grant Should Receive a New Trial

a. Mr. Grant Should Receive a New Trial Due to Insufficiency of the Evidence Because of Inadequate Chain of Custody of Evidence

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that where a defendant moves for a dismissal or a directed verdict at the close of the state's case, and when the motion is denied, that, "the introduction of evidence by the defendant, if the entire evidence is sufficient to sustain a conviction, waives the motion to direct." *State v. Kelley*, 107 Wis. 2d 540, 545, 319 N.W. 2d 869 (1982). In these cases, the reviewing court must examine all the evidence in determining whether it is sufficient to sustain the conviction. *Id*.

To sustain a conviction for possession with intent to deliver cocaine, under Wis. Stats. § 961.41(1m)(cm)1r, there must be sufficient evidence to prove that Mr. Grant (1) possessed a substance, (2) that substance was cocaine, (3) Mr. Grant knew the substance was cocaine, and (4) he intended to deliver the cocaine. The State must also prove that the cocaine was between 1-5 grams of weight. Appellate review is deferential to the jury verdict, and the verdict will not be reversed "unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so insufficient...that it can be said as a matter of law that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis.2d 493, 501, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990).

In Mr. Grant's case, Officer Brian Maciewjewski testified that he was patrolling on a bicycle on May 30, 2013 and he saw a group of guys standing around the front porch of 3825 N. 36th Street in Milwaukee. (R55:57-58). He testified that Mr. Grant ran up the walkway of the house onto the steps of the porch and began to walk northbound across the front porch. *Id.* at 60. Officer Maciewjewski indicated that he asked the subject if he lived there, the subject never responded back and after being asked what his intentions were standing in the street, the subject jumped over the front porch and then went westbound along 3829 N. 36th Street and then to the back alley where Officer Martez Ball gave foot pursuit. Id. at 61. This subject, later identified as Grant, dropped a black phone as he jumped over the front porch. Id. at 62. The defense on cross examination established that Officer Maciewjewski never saw Mr. Grant discard a pill bottle or any drugs, that he never saw

any drugs on Mr. Grant and that the discarded black phone had nothing on it that was indicative of drug dealing. *Id.* at 63.

Officer Martez Ball testified next. (R56). He was with Officer Maciejewski when Maciejewski asked the subject if he lived at the residence. Id. at 4. He testified that the subject jumped over railing into yard next to house (north of house). Id. Officer Martez yelled for him to "stop, police." Id. The subject jumped the fence going into the rear. Id. at 6. Officer Ball testified that he followed the subject from behind, and the subject removed a pill bottle from right pocket front. *Id.* As the subject was running, he tried to jump a fence. *Id.* Both feet of this subject were on top of the fence. Id. Officer Ball testified that he grabbed the subject's ankles, and with his right hand, the subject threw a pill bottle. Id. Officer Ball testified that the bottle landed 10-15 feet away. Id. at 7. At this point, per Officer Ball, the subject toppled over the fence and was taken into custody by additional officers. Id. at 7. Some exhibits were introduced into trial by the state to establish the positioning of Mr. Grant and the officers. Id. at 7-16. Officer Ball testified that when he grabbed Mr. Grant's feet he saw a pill bottle in the right hand. Id. at 17. It wasn't until Officer Ball grabbed Mr. Grant that Grant actually threw the pill bottle. Id. Apparently, there were four officers that went to the back of the house to go after Mr. Grant. Id. at 20. Officer Ball confirmed that this was a troubled area-multiple arrests for drugs and weapons. Id. at 25.

Officer Matthew Bughman testified next that he observed a pill bottle being thrown from 15-25 feet away. *Id.* at 28. He stated that he recovered the pill bottle, placed it in his pocket until things got sorted out, examined it and noted two clear plastic sandwich bags containing a total of 23 corner cuts of suspected crack cocaine. *Id.* at 30. They called for a conveyance and Officer Bughman testified that he conveyed the suspected cocaine back to District 7 where he subjected it

to a field test. *Id.* at 31. He recalled the weight as approximately 2.79 grams total. *Id.* at 32. After the field test, Officer Bughman testified, he sealed the substance into a paper fold which was placed into another paper envelope and sealed with evidence tape. *Id.* at 33. Then, he filled out an inventory form with specifics of the circumstances of the substance being obtained, which was introduced as Exh. 5, MPD inventory form 13016408, 0131500106. *Id.* at 34.

On cross examination, defense counsel established that the orange-colored prescription pill bottle was not introduced into evidence. Id. at 41. At no point in the trial was a pill bottle introduced into evidence. (R55, R56). Additionally, Officer Bughman noted that he had written none of his observations down in a police report. (R56:43-45). He wrote nothing detailing his observations of having (1) seen an object thrown, (2) having found a pill bottle, (3) having examined it, (4) having transported it to the police department, (5) having analyzed it, in a police report. Id. Defense counsel asked him: "you never wrote that [that Bughman saw Mr. Grant throw a pill bottle] down anywhere, correct?" Id. at 44. Officer Bughman responded that he had told the other officers and he believed that they put it in their report. Id. However, Officer Bughman was then not able to identify where in the reports his observations were noted, and he confirmed on the stand, "it's not in there." Id.

Lab analyst Birjees Kauser testified for the State that she received a manila envelope with a police inventory number on it (0131500106 and 13016408) as well as a lab number on it. *Id.* at 67. After weighing and testing the substance involved, she indicated that the substance tested positive for a total of 1.1209 grams of cocaine base. *Id.* at 76. She stated that a portion of the drugs is consumed during testing and that the cocaine base can lose weight over time depending on "how the process and how the packaging is done." *Id.* Cocaine powder is dissolved in water and a base like baking soda is added to it and then heated. *Id.* at 77. She testified that:

What happens is...the cocaine settles at the bottom of the container as an oil. The water is drained out and the oil is scratched and it's brought down to room temperature. Then it becomes solidified, and that---so the water that is drained out, it depends on how much or when or at what point the packaging was done in the paper packet. So it was—if it was dried up properly, it may still retain some solvent that is the water that I mentioned, and when it is repackaged in paper packet, the paper absorbs moisture, so there is one way that the differences in weight can be observed over the period of time.

Id.

Ms. Kauser, on cross examination, discussed a comparative study that she had done, "out of curiosity" and apparently on her own time. Id. at 78. She said she was "curious" to know the weight loss of cocaine base from the time it was retrieved from the state agency to the time she tested it. Id. She stated that there was "quite a bit of weight loss that went on for at least two days." Id. She indicated that she could not pinpoint any study that would account for the weight loss, or, for instance, the 66% weight loss that was exhibited in this case. Id. at 79. She said simply because of the nature of the substance, it can lose weight. Id. She testified, "just imagine if you're taking something out of water and you have not dried it properly and it has been packaged say at one point in plastic baggies then it has been put in a paper packet, the paper is going to absorb moisture. We all know that. That's a common observance." Id.

However, Ms. Kauser did not testify to a stain on the papers or to any observations she made of a loss of water weight in this case. She did not testify that this cocaine was not cooked properly or when it was packaged. She could not have possibly known when the substance was cooked and at what point it was put in a baggie or on a paper fold in relation to its having been cooked. In fact, Officer Bughman, who had allegedly recovered the cocaine from the scene, testified that the chunky laundry detergent-like substance in the pill bottle **"did not appear to be wet."** *Id.* at 32. Additionally, Ms. Kauser testified that no pill bottle was ever given to her. *Id.* at 83.

At the close of the State's case, the defense made a motion to dismiss/for directed verdict due to the absence of a pill bottle, the distinction between the weight of the cocaine the lab analyst tested, which weighed out at just over 1 g, (whereas the police said the weight was just over 2.79) the absence of documentation of Officer Bughman's corroboration of having seen a pill bottle thrown and under what circumstances, no indication of drug dealing in the case such as: surveillance, undercover buys, scales, firearms, search warrants. *Id.* at 84. The State countered that the lab analyst didn't rule out the possibility of a 66% drop in the amount of weight, that Officer Ball had indicated that he had seen the pill bottle thrown as well, and that there was intent to deliver based on the packaging and weight of the substance found. *Id.* at 87-89. The trial court ultimately responded that:

the indication was that the defendant threw the pill bottle that contained the substance. The state is not required to bring in the pill bottle. It's something that's simply can be argued with regard to weight, but it is not fatal as to a required element. The state has to prove the substance was cocaine. I believe the lab analyst has sufficiently proved that the substance was cocaine... and the act of the defendant throwing the substance under the circumstances I think can lead a jury to believe he knew it was a controlled substance. State put on evidence that .12 would be one use and a user would have 1-3 uses, but the evidence here is that the defendant had at least 1.1 grams and possibly up to 2.79. well beyond the 1-3 usages.

Id. at 89-90.

The contested issues in this trial were whether Mr. Grant (1) possessed a substance and (2) whether that substance, if possessed, was indicative of intent to deliver. In contesting the second issue, Mr. Grant was not, throughout the trial, conceding that he actually possessed a substance. The police claimed that they saw an object being thrown. The object, an orange pill bottle, was recovered, allegedly with corner cut baggies inside of it. This pill bottle was never introduced into evidence, and the weight of the drugs as allegedly weighed right after recovery was significantly different than the weight as tested by the lab analyst five months later. There needs to be a solid chain of custody to prove that the drugs found on scene were, in fact, the drugs tested by Lab Analyst Kauser. It is necessary to establish a chain of custody of an exhibit being introduced into evidence because "[t]he standard for the admission of exhibits into evidence is that there must be a showing that the physical exhibit being offered is in substantially the same condition as when the crime was committed." State v. McCoy, 2007 WI App 15, ¶¶17-18, 298 Wis. 2d 523, 531, 728 N.W.2d 54, 58 (internal quotes and citation omitted). The standard in reviewing whether the State presented sufficient proof to establish a chain of custody is discretionary. State v. Simmons, 57 Wis.2d. 285, 295-96, 203 N.W.2d 887 (1973). The law with respect to chain of custody issues requires "proof sufficient to render it improbable that the original item has been exchanged, contaminated, or tampered with." McCoy, 2007 WI App 15 at ¶9, citing B.A.C. v. T.L.G., 135 Wis. 2d 280, 290 (Wis. App. 1986). "The requirements of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility are satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent

claims." *Id.*, citing *United States v. Moore*, 425 F.3d 1061, 1071 (7th Cir. 2005). While a "perfect chain of custody is not required," *McCoy*, 2007 WI App 15 at ¶9, the trial court may admit or exclude evidence within its discretion. *State v. Hereford*, 195 Wis.2d 1054, 1065, 537 N.W.2d 62, 66 (Wis.App.1995). It is also true that gaps in chain of custody go to the weight of the evidence rather than its admissibility. *McCoy*, 2007 WI App 15 at ¶9.

Yet, it is unreasonable for the court to have admitted the cocaine evidence given these circumstances:

- (1) There was a significant corroborating piece of evidence missing: the orange pill bottle. R56:41.
- (2) The officer who allegedly retrieved the pill bottle did not write a police report detailing the circumstances of its retrieval and the subsequent steps taken to ensure chain of custody. *Id.* at 43-45.
- (3) The weight of the cocaine from its having been tested by Officer Bughman to its having been tested by Lab Analyst Kauser was different by a reduction of 66%. *Id.* at 79.
- (4) The reduction in weight was testified to in an expert opinion unsupported by professional studies. *Id.* at 78.

In its response to the postconviction motion, the State claimed that the missing evidence was irrelevant to the chain of custody because Officer Bughman testified about how he recovered, tested and inventoried the suspected cocaine, and because at trial "Officer Bughman was still able to say that this was the cocaine that he recovered." (R42:4-5). This argument only highlights the chain of custody problems in this case. The cocaine itself has no distinguishing characteristics that would allow Officer Bughman to differentiate it from any other cocaine (or for that matter any off white powdery substance) as opposed to the one allegedly discarded by Mr. Grant. It is particularly puzzling how Officer Bughman could make such an assertion considering that the substance in question apparently reduced by more than half in weight since the time he would have last seen it. A pill bottle on the other hand would have presented evidence that could be recognized and distinguished. Considering that in this case the State presented absolutely no other evidence that would suggest drug use or drug dealing by Mr. Grant, it is especially troubling to allow the jury to rely on police testimony regarding a pill bottle it allegedly recovered but was never able to produce. Additionally, not every plastic pill bottle would be able to fit inside of it two plastic sandwich bags with multiple corner cuts of cocaine. Failure to present the bottle had deprived Mr. Grant of the opportunity to challenge that assertion as well.

In its order denying the postconviction motion, the trial court did not specifically address any of the defense's chain of custody arguments such as the missing evidence, missing information in the police reports or the lack of quantifiable scientific explanation with respect to the alleged weight reduction of the cocaine, concluding without further analysis or discussion that "[t]he evidence was sufficient to establish that the chain of custody for the drugs was not tampered with or amiss." (R44:3).

Due to these inadequacies, Mr. Grant moves this court for a new trial as a substantial piece of information, the chain of custody of the alleged drugs found on scene, was not properly documented, both before and during trial, and, therefore, under the court's discretion, it should not have admitted the cocaine evidence in this case.

b. Mr. Grant Should Receive a New Trial Because of a Due Process Violation When Officer Bughman Did Not Inventory the Pill Bottle

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