STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

05-22-2015

RECEIVED

DISTRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2014AP2965-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TIRON JUSTIN GRANT,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF AND A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE J.D. WATTS AND THE HONORABLE DANIEL L. KONKOL, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

CHRISTINE A. REMINGTON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1046171

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The State presented sufficient evidence to convict Grant.

A. Applicable Statutes.

[I]t is unlawful for any person to possess, with intent to manufacture, distribute or deliver, a controlled substance or a controlled substance analog. Intent under this subsection may be demonstrated by, without limitation because of enumeration, evidence of the quantity and monetary value of the substances possessed, the possession of manufacturing implements or paraphernalia, and the activities or statements of the person in possession of the controlled substance or a controlled substance analog prior to and after the alleged violation. Any person who violates this subsection is subject to the following penalties:

• • • •

(cm) *Cocaine and cocaine base.* If a person violates this subsection with respect to cocaine or cocaine base, or a controlled substance analog of cocaine or cocaine base, and the amount possessed, with intent to manufacture, distribute or deliver, is:

. . . .

1r. More than one gram but not more than 5 grams, the person is guilty of a Class F felony.

Wis. Stat. § 961.41(1m) (2011-12).¹

B. Legal Principles.

A defendant seeking to overturn a verdict on the basis of insufficient evidence has an exceptionally high hurdle to clear. The test to determine sufficiency of the evidence to convict is highly

¹All references to the Wisconsin Statutes are to the 2011-12 version unless otherwise noted.

deferential. *State v. Kimbrough,* 2001 WI App 138, ¶ 12, 246 Wis. 2d 648, 630 N.W.2d 752. This court "may not reverse unless the evidence is so insufficient in probative value and force that as a matter of law, no reasonable fact finder could have determined guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* (citation omitted). Moreover,

the rules governing our review strongly favor the verdict. We affirm the verdict if the evidence adduced, believed, and rationally considered by the jury was sufficient to prove the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. In reviewing the evidence, we view it in the light most favorable to the verdict, and, if more than one reasonable inference can be drawn from the evidence, we adopt the inference that supports the verdict.

State v. Hahn, 221 Wis. 2d 670, 683, 586 N.W.2d 5 (Ct. App. 1998) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

When the evidence supports more than one inference, this court must accept the inference that supports the jury's verdict. *State v. Routon*, 2007 WI App 178, ¶ 17, 304 Wis. 2d 480, 736 N.W.2d 530. This court should give evidence all reasonable inferences that support the verdict. *State v. Fonte*, 2005 WI 77, ¶ 19, 281 Wis. 2d 654, 698 N.W.2d 594. If the jury could possibly have drawn the appropriate inference to find guilt, this court will not overturn the verdict even if it believes the jury should not have found guilt. *State v. Kimberly B.*, 2005 WI App 115, ¶ 21, 283 Wis. 2d 731, 699 N.W.2d 641.

C. The State presented sufficient evidence to prove that Grant possessed cocaine with intent to deliver.

Grant fails to clear the exceptionally high hurdle and prove that the State presented insufficient evidence to allow the jury to convict him. There is no requirement that each piece of evidence recovered be presented to the jury at trial. The jury only needed to determine whether Grant possessed a substance, the substance was cocaine, Grant knew it was cocaine, and Grant intended to deliver the cocaine. *See* Wis. JI-Criminal 6035 (2010). The medicine bottle was irrelevant to any of the four elements of the crime. Grant argues that the medicine bottle was needed to prove the chain of custody. Grant's brief at 14.² He asserts that cocaine does not have any identifying feature and to ensure the cocaine tested at the crime lab was from the medicine bottle, the bottle needed to be transported with the cocaine. Grant's brief at 14. But the chain was complete because the inventory numbers that Officer Bughman assigned matched the inventory numbers attached to the substances that Kauser tested (56:35, 65, 67).

And a complete chain of custody is not needed to admit evidence. *State v. McCoy*, 2007 WI App 15, ¶ 19, 298 Wis. 2d 523, 728 N.W.2d 54. The fact that the State did not admit the medicine bottle did not mean that the cocaine was inadmissible. Instead, it meant that Grant could argue that without the medicine bottle the State could not meet his burden. Grant did that. He asked Officer Bughman to show him the bottle, and Officer Bughman admitted it was not in court (56:41-42). He argued that the State failed to produce the medicine bottle because it did not exist (57:28). The jury plainly rejected that assertion.

The jury had evidence from which it could conclude that Grant possessed cocaine with the intent to deliver it. The State presented sufficient evidence and the conviction should not be overturned.

D. Reversal in the interest of justice is not appropriate.

1. Legal principles.

"Appellate courts may also reverse judgments 'where unobjected-to error results in either the real controversy not having been fully tried or for any reason justice is miscarried." *State v. Zdzieblowski*, 2014 WI App 130, ¶ 24, 359 Wis. 2d 102, 857 N.W.2d 622 (quoting *Vollmer v. Luety*, 156 Wis. 2d 1, 17, 456 N.W.2d 797 (1990)).

²To the extent that Grant argues the court should not have admitted the cocaine, he forfeited that argument by failing to object at trial. *See State v. Hershberger*, 2014 WI App 86, \P 22 n.6, 356 Wis. 2d 220, 853 N.W.2d 586.

This court has discretionary reversal power:

if it appears from the record that the real controversy has not been fully tried, or that it is probable that justice has for any reason miscarried, the court may reverse the judgment or order appealed from, regardless of whether the proper motion or objection appears in the record and may direct the entry of the proper judgment or remit the case to the trial court for entry of the proper judgment or for a new trial, and direct the making of such amendments in the pleadings and the adoption of such procedure in that court, not inconsistent with statutes or rules, as are necessary to accomplish the ends of justice.

Wis. Stat. § 752.35.

2. This court should refuse to reverse in the interest of justice.

The rarely used exceptional discretionary power to grant a new trial in the interest of justice is not warranted. Grant does not explain whether he believes the real controversy was not tried or whether there was a miscarriage of justice. He simply argues that the cocaine should not have been admitted because the medicine bottle was missing from the chain of custody. Grant's brief at 21. For the reasons stated above, the circuit court did not commit an error by allowing the cocaine in without the medicine bottle. This court should deny Grant's request for reversal of the conviction in the interests of justice.

II. Grant fails to show that his due process rights were violated.

A. Standard of review.

Whether state action constitutes a violation of due process is a question of law that this court decides independently from the circuit court but benefitting from its analysis. *State v. Luedtke*, 2015 WI 42, \P 37, ___ Wis. 2d ___, __ N.W.2d ___.

B. Legal principles.

Failure to preserve material evidence can violate due process. *State v. Ehlen*, 119 Wis. 2d 451, 455, 351 N.W.2d 503 (1984). But the evidence destroyed must be material evidence. *Id.* A defendant's due process rights are violated if the police: (1) failed to preserve the evidence that is apparently exculpatory; or (2) acted in bad faith by failing to preserve evidence which is potentially exculpatory. *Luedtke*, 2015 WI 42, ¶ 46.

C. Grant fails to prove that the medicine bottle was apparently exculpatory.

Grant argues that the State violated his due process rights by its failure to preserve the medicine bottle. Grant's brief at 16. He does not argue that the officers destroyed the bottle in bad faith. Grant's brief at 16. Instead, Grant asserts that the medicine bottle was apparently exculpatory because it might have been too small to hold the amount of cocaine recovered and it might have been old. Grant's brief at 16-17. Grant fails to prove that the medicine bottle was apparently exculpatory, and he cannot show a due process violation.

At best, the medicine bottle was potentially exculpatory. But because the bottle likely was clean, because Grant just threw it, and because the officers found cocaine in it, it was much more likely to be inculpatory. Thus, because the bottle was only potentially exculpatory, Grant needed to show bad faith in the failure to preserve it. *See Luedtke*, 2015 WI 42, ¶ 46. He cannot. Grant fails to show that the State violated his right to due process by failing to preserve the medicine bottle.

Grant had the opportunity to challenge the failure to produce the medicine bottle on cross-examination at trial and at closing argument. These opportunities are sufficient to ensure due process. Under these circumstances, Grant fails to show that the State violated his due process rights. III. The circuit court properly denied Grant's ineffective assistance of counsel claims without an evidentiary hearing.

A. Standard of review.

If a postconviction motion is deficient, the circuit court has the discretion to deny it without an evidentiary hearing because it fails to allege sufficient facts, presents only conclusory allegations, or the record conclusively shows that the defendant is entitled to no relief. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 309-10, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). Whether the motion alleges sufficient facts, presents only conclusory allegations, or the record conclusively shows that the defendant is not entitled to relief is a question this court reviews independent of the circuit court. *Id.* at 310; *see State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶¶ 9, 12, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. If the motion fails to allege sufficient facts, presents only conclusory allegations, or the record conclusively shows that the defendant is not entitled to relief, the circuit court decision to deny an evidentiary hearing will be subject to deferential appellate review. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 310-11.

B. Legal principles.

A hearing on a postconviction motion is required only when the movant states sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief. *State v. Pinno*, 2014 WI 74, ¶ 38, ____ Wis. 2d ____, 850 N.W.2d 207. The motion must allege facts that allow the reviewing court to meaningfully assess the defendant's claim. *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 21. The facts must be material to the issue presented. *Id.* ¶ 23. A sufficient postconviction motion alleges the "five 'w's' and one 'h'; that is, who, what, where, when, why, and how." *Id.*

A defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must prove both that his lawyer's representation was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result of that deficient performance. *Strickland v. Washington,* 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984); *State v. Love,* 2005 WI 116, ¶ 30, 284 Wis. 2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62. If the court concludes that the defendant has not proven one prong of this test, it need not address the other. *Strickland,* 466 U.S. at 697.

To prove deficient performance, a defendant must show specific acts or omissions of counsel that were "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690. To demonstrate prejudice, the defendant must show that there is: "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* at 694. A reasonable probability is "a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.*

C. The circuit court properly denied Grant's motion without a hearing.

In his motion for a new trial, Grant alleged that his attorney provided ineffective assistance for failing to challenge Detective James Henner's testimony on *Daubert* grounds (40:9-11). Grant's claim fails. The circuit court made the proper decision when it refused to hold a fact-finding hearing.

In 2011, the legislature amended § 907.02 to make Wisconsin law consistent with the *Daubert* reliability standard embodied in Federal Rule of Evidence 702. *See Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharm., Inc.,* 509 U.S. 579 (1973). The rule provides:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, if the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.

Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1).

The circuit court has discretion whether to admit or exclude expert testimony. *State v. Giese*, 2014 WI App 92, ¶ 16, 356 Wis. 2d 796, 854 N.W.2d 687. This court reviews that decision under an erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *Id.*

If Grant's attorney had objected to the testimony, the circuit court would have exercised its discretion to determine whether the testimony met the Wis. Stat. § 907.02 standard. The circuit court would have allowed the testimony based on the foundation of Detective Henner's testimony (44:2; A-Ap. 115). That conclusion would not have been erroneous.

Other courts have concluded that a police officer's training and experience meets the *Daubert* standard in the field of drugs and drug trafficking. See, e.g., United States v. Schwarch, 719 F.3d 921, 923-24 (8th Cir. 2013) (permitting a police officer to give expert testimony concerning the modus operandi of drug dealers to rebut the defendant's claim that he was merely a user and not a trafficker); United States v. West, 671 F.3d 1195, 1201 n.6 (10th Cir. 2012)(upholding a police officer's expert opinion that items found in the defendant's apartment were consistent with the distribution of marijuana); United States v. Garcia, 447 F.3d 1327, 1335 (11th Cir. 2006)(recognizing that an experienced narcotics officer may provide expert testimony to help a jury understand the significance of certain conduct or methods of operation unique to the drug distribution business); United States v. Parra, 402 F.3d 752, 757-58 (7th Cir. 2005)(allowing a DEA agent to testify about the use of countersurveillance in drug transactions).

Since the circuit court would have overruled the objection, Grant's motion fails to allege sufficient facts to prove prejudice. Even with an objection, the result at trial would not have changed. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. This court should affirm the circuit court's order denying Grant's motion without a trial. Grant failed to allege sufficient facts to meet the standard for an evidentiary hearing.

IV. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in sentencing Grant.

A. Standard of review.

A circuit court properly exercises its discretion if, by reference to the relevant facts and factors, it explains how the sentence's component parts promote the sentencing objectives. *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 46, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. There is a strong public policy against interference with the sentencing discretion of the circuit court, and sentences are afforded the presumption that the circuit court acted reasonably. *Id.* ¶ 18; *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 281, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971).

A court erroneously exercises its discretion when it "imposes its sentence *based on* or in *actual reliance upon* clearly irrelevant or improper factors." *State v. Harris,* 2010 WI 79, ¶ 30, 326 Wis. 2d 685, 786 N.W.2d 409.

B. Legal Principles.

The objectives of the sentence, including, but not limited to, the protection of the public, punishment, rehabilitation, and deterrence should be articulated on the record. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, \P 40. Which objectives should be given greatest weight is up to the circuit court to identify in each case. *Id.* \P 41. Courts must also describe, on the record, the facts relevant to the objectives. *Id.* \P 42.

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